THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2011-CP-23-06482  
Appellate Docket No. 2013-000329

---

Harrison Partners, LLC, .....Appellant,

v.

Renewable Water Resources, .....Respondent

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Robert C. Childs, III  
2100 Poinsett Hwy., Suite D  
Greenville, SC 29609  
(864) 242-9997

J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893  
114 Whitsett Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 282-1292

Attorneys for the Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in numerous findings of facts in its "Factual Background" that are unsupported by evidence?
2. Did the lower court err in not finding ReWa caused delays to Appellant's project and that Appellant never completed its application for a flow acceptance permit?
3. Did the lower court err in by finding that Appellant had no vested rights relating to receiving sewer services on the Subject Project?
4. Did the lower court err by failing to rule on the issue of the Contract Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions?
5. Did the lower court err in finding additional sustaining grounds in affirming the lower court opinion?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 9, 2009 the Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint alleging among other things that the Respondent improperly refused to grant the Appellant wastewater treatment service. On March 16, 2010 the Honorable Edward W. Miller dismissed the suit without prejudice pending an administrative hearing before the Respondent.

On March 22 and 23rd, 2011 the administrative hearing was held before hearing officer Michael D. Glenn. A subsequent deposition held on April 21, 2011, was submitted as part of the hearing record. On September 1, 2011 the hearing officer issued his decision which was received on September 6, 2011. On September 29, 2011 the Appellant filed its Summon and Complaint Appealing that Administrative decision.

On September 4, 2012 the initial appeal of this matter was heard before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. On November 16, 2012 the Court issued its order affirming the decision of the hearing officer Michael Glenn. On December 7, 2012 the Appellant filed its motion to reconsider on December 7, 2012. On January 10, 2013 the trial court denied Appellant's motion to reconsider. This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a residential subdivision developer with interests in Greenville County, South Carolina. The Respondent Renewable Water Resources (“ReWa”) is the former Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority which is a pre-home rule special purpose district managed and controlled by a nine member commission appointed through the Greenville County Legislative delegation and vested with the authority to operate trunk lines and treatment plants for the disposal of sewage for Greenville County and portions of Spartanburg, Laurens, and Anderson counties.

In 2006, Appellant undertook to develop a residential subdivision, River Trace, in the Greenville area. (R. p. 121, l. 1-11). This was within Respondent’s wastewater treatment service area. Appellant planned to use a private company, Condor Environmental, LLC (“Condor”) to build and operate the wastewater pump station at the subdivision. In the course of planning the development, representatives of Appellant approached Respondent and were told that they would have to annex their property into the Metropolitan Sewer Sub-district (“Metro”) for sewer service from the subdivision. The Appellant completed the annexation in November 2007. (R. p. 559; p. 103, l. 2-8).

River Trace required a pump station to connect it’s subdivision to the Respondent’s trunk lines. (R. p. 125, l. 1-10). It had been the usual and accepted practice in Respondent’s service area for a private sewer company (“PSC”), such as Condor, to operate a pump station, and then a sub-district, such as the Metro, to be responsible for the collection lines up to the pump station and from the pump station to the main trunk lines of the Respondent and then to Respondent’s wastewater treatment facility. (R. p. 88, l. 4-25). The private pump station is licensed as a PSC

through the Public Service Commission. Construction and operation of the pump station are first paid by the developer and then through homeowner fees. This was a usual and accepted practice and, most importantly, was allowed under Respondent's existing regulations at the time Appellant initiated the River Trace project. (R. p. 126, l. 9-24).

After inquiry by Appellant to determine sewer availability with Respondent, on March 16, 2006, Appellant received from Brian Bishop, the engineering supervisor of Respondent, an e-mail confirming that Respondent had sufficient capacity to handle their subdivision's wastewater. The e-mail also represented that Appellant should enter into contracts with Metro and Condor, and should meet all Metro and Condor specifications. (R. p. 794).

Appellant then undertook to make all submissions and seek approval for their development from Greenville County. In May of 2006, Greenville County approved Appellant's plans for River Trace, requiring sewer service through Metro and providing that the pump station be maintained by a publicly regulated entity, such as Condor (Condor was approved by the South Carolina Public Service Commission for such services.)

After Respondent's March 16, 2006 e-mail and after the Greenville County approval, Appellant purchased the property for River Trace on June 22, 2006 for \$1,022,500.00 and undertook an enormous financial obligation for its development. Appellant was annexed into Metro. Appellant then entered into legally binding and valid contracts with Condor for the PSC and contracted with Eastwood Homes to sell all the lots. They cleared the property, completed rough grading on site, installed storm drainage lines and controls and engineered and surveyed the facilities.

Five months after the e-mail in March of 2006, Appellant sent its application, with the required fee and documentation, including a connection point map located on the flag lot route selected by Respondent, to begin the approval process for the wastewater treatment services. Respondent cashed their check and accepted their application which included all of the engineering documents and the surveyed "river" route. (R. p. 209; 326; 424; 558; 675-678).

The processing of Appellant's application encountered delay and stretched into 2007. During the summer or early fall of 2007 the Director for the Respondent instructed staff to place "a hold" on the River Trace application.<sup>1</sup> Respondent claimed that it placed the hold on Respondent's application because it was considering a change to its policy which was believed might not allow a PSC to connect the Respondent's trunk lines. The new policy was to "outlaw" the existing private utilities and require the infrastructure to be a part of the same wastewater system with Respondent or a sewer sub-district such as Metro.

There was no public announcement of this possible policy until Respondent's January Board Meeting in 2008, almost 18 months after Appellant's annexation into the Metro Sewer District. No developers with pending plans, including Appellant, were notified of the meeting. Respondent's Board did not pass the new policy until May of 2008, almost two years after the River Trace property submitted their application package to Re-Wa for approvals. Prior to the passage of the new policy, Appellant had proposed a plan that appeared acceptable to the Respondent, no action was taken because ReWa staff had been instructed by its Director to put a hold on all pump station projects even though they were permissible under existing regulations.

---

<sup>1</sup>A "hold" was placed on all similar pending applications, eight in total.

Despite Respondent's representations that Appellant would be grandfathered in, Appellant's continued requests for exemption from the new regulation and "grandfather" status were ultimately denied.

Under ReWa's new policy, Respondent would have to own and operate the entire system or Condor could own the entire system, but only, if Metro was willing to guarantee the entire system. Metro was not willing to do so. Appellant continued to contend that their application would be grandfathered since they applied before the effective date for the change in policy and that the policy really didn't apply to them since it applied to "out-of-district" developments and they were clearly inside the Metropolitan Sewer Service District, having paid Metro sewer district taxes for two years. Accordingly, both Metro and Re-Wa incorrectly applied a "new policy" that never actually applied to Appellant.

By August of 2009, nearly three years since Appellant submitted its application, it became obvious that no permit from the Respondent would be forthcoming. On September 9, 2009 Appellant filed an action against the Respondent alleging that the Respondent wrongfully denied the Appellant to ability to establish a private collector sewer system ("PCS"). (2009-CP-23-7710). Appellant asserted claims for breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act, unjust enrichment, negligence, negligent misrepresentation, interference with contractual rights, civil conspiracy, declaratory judgment, writ of mandamus, and a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. The Respondent's answer failed to plead the existence or failure to exhaust administrative remedies. (R. p. 62-78). Nevertheless, on October 30, 2009, the Respondent filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that Appellant failed to exhaust

administrative remedies. The Circuit Court conducted a hearing on January 19, 2010. On March 16, 2010 the Circuit Court issued its Order. (R. p. 25-31).

In its March 16, 2010 Order the Court stated “During the hearing on this matter, ReWa provided evidence of a process by which an aggrieved person may appeal the denial of a PCS permit. Specifically, the ReWa Sewer Regulations provide a hearing and reexamination process for aggrieved individuals.” (R. p. 26). (Emphasis added) The Court further stated “Once a final decision is rendered, the Regulations provide any party aggrieved by a final decision of ReWa may appeal such decision to the Court of Common Pleas.” (R. p. 26). The Court also provided “The Regulations provided under Section 2: Any person whose permit is denied, or is granted subject to conditions deems unacceptable shall have the right to request an Adjudicatory Hearing.” (R. p. 27). The Circuit Court therefore, dismissed the 2009 suit without prejudice pending the administrative review process. (R. p. 29).

On March 21, 2011 the Appellant filed a new lawsuit against Respondent and others raising the same allegations from the lawsuit filed in 2009. (2011-CP-23-1957) The Administrative hearing was finally held on March 22 & 23, 2011.

#### **SUMMARY OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING FACTS**

The testimony at the hearing shows that on March 16, 2006 the Respondent notified the Appellant that they had sufficient sewer capacity to serve the property that the Appellant planned to develop (“River Trace”). (R. p. 794). Attorney and Ph.D. in Environmental Engineering, Eugene C. McCall, Jr., testified that this notification is the first step in the process of connecting a development to a sewer system in Greenville County. (R. p. 24-26). McCall formed Condor Environmental, L.L.C. because of the Respondent’s previous decision to no longer accept pump

stations operated by developers into their systems. This provided a niche for Condor as an approved private wastewater utility to provide pump station ownership and operation for various subdivisions in Greenville County. (R. p. 111, l. 2-23). In fact, Re-Wa had looked to Condor to provide this valuable service and worked with them closely on many projects. Condor owned and operated 12 pump stations in Greenville County. (R. p. 112, l. 1-3). They also managed another 30 stations in the State and had a good record of operations sufficient to maintain operations on the existing pump stations they currently operate. (R. p. 112, l. 23-25).

In early 2006 Mr. McCall received a call from the Appellant about owning and operating a pump station for River Trace that culminated in a contract dated April 23, 2007. (R. p. 119, l. 1-25; p. 753-759). The process of acceptance of the PSC with the Respondent was usually four to six months. (R. p. 91, l. 10-17). A year was the longest possible time McCall had ever experienced. (R. p. 116, l. 21-25). River Trace submitted its subdivision plat that indicated its sewer system was approved provided that the PSC be approved by the public service commission.<sup>2</sup> Greenville County approved the plat. It is Greenville County's procedure to confirm that all the service and utility providers that are willing to service the project prior to the County's approval. (R. p. 148, l. 1-5). According to McCall, "so if it has plat approval then ReWa said 'Yes, fine'." (R. p. 148, l. 5-6). It was only with this approval that Appellant commenced work on the property and obtained encroachment permits for sewer and utilities. (R. p. 121, l. 1-11).

Mr. McCall testified that in November 2007, some one year and eight months following

---

<sup>2</sup>Condor was already licensed as a PSC by the public service commission at that time.

the issuance of the capacity letter, approval of the subdivision plat, purchase of the property, design of the components and numerous surveys the Respondent started mentioning the idea of prohibiting PSC pumping station connections and replacing it with themselves since the Respondent "ought to be making money on the pump stations." (R. p. 127, l. 10-p. 105, l. 9; p. 128, l. 24-p. 129, l. 4). At this point Respondent had committed to a pump station, either to the Metropolitan connector line or all the way up to the treatment plant, which was standard practice at that time. (R. p. 126, l. 15-24).

According to Mr. McCall, while the River Trace application was still being considered, in early 2008, nearly two years into the process that should have lasted at most a year, the Respondent officially began considering the enactment of the new policy, which would end the PSC pump station connections to their system. (R. p. 140, l. 7-21). The new regulations would essentially prohibit split ownership of the system between a private and public utility. (R. p.131, l. 18-25). Although the question of retroactive application of the proposed regulation had not been determined by the Board, "every time something would be finalized by the developer, the Respondent would come up with a new wrinkle, no we can't have that. The last wrinkle "was that [ReWa] basically told us that they weren't going to allow the force main owned by a private utility coming onto ReWa property." Despite the fact that it was standard practice to do so and no objection had been raised previously. In fact, Re-Wa routinely encouraged the use of private easements and provided access to their system and data to facilitate the process. In other words, the new regulations were a complete "180" from the practice prevailing at the time Appellant's application was submitted.

On May 5, 2008 the Respondent passed a resolution adopting the new policy which

effectively abolishes the PSC pump stations. (R. p. 761). The Respondent proposed that it would own and operate Appellant's planned pump station at twice the price charged by McCall's group. (R. p. 143, l. 1-13).

McCall questioned whether the new regulations were retroactive to River Trace and the six other pending PSC projects. He testified "And in talking with Mr. Stillwell, I said 'Well, the reg's not fair, but even if we live with the reg going forward, it shouldn't apply to these seven projects.' And he said, 'Well if you want to come to the Board and make your presentation, do it.'" (R. p. 144, l. 21-p. 1145, l. 1).

McCall raised the application of the new regulations to River Trace and six other projects to the ReWa Board. The issue was placed on the Board's agenda. (R. p. 145, l. 1-7). At the Board meeting there was a presentation with the Board asking few questions. The Board reached no decision at the meeting on the application of the new regulations to those projects substantially underway. (R. p. 145, l. 11-16). McCall stated "And I should say today, I have never gotten the decision from the Board on that --- those --- that request. So they never decided, but effectively they've killed the projects by dragging them out so long." (R. p. 146, l. 12-16). Nevertheless despite the failure of the Respondent's Board to determine the applicability of the new regulation to existing projects, the Respondent continues to retroactively apply it to the Appellant. Moreover, the policy never applied to the Harrison Partners because they were within the service area of Metropolitan Sewer District and the new policy only applied the developments outside of a service district. Despite Respondents concession at the administrative hearing that that Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892

(S.C.App. 2000) was controlling in this case. (R. p. 150, l. 21-p. 151, l. 2). The Respondents and the Board fail to recognize the impropriety of the regulation.

Scott Bolo an engineer and an officer and owner, of Appellant, testified that Appellant had built their entire business plan for River Trace premised upon this usual practice by Respondent of using the PSC for the pumping station. (R. p. 213, l. 7-17). Bolo stated that when they received the March 16, 2006 e-mail from the Respondent the Respondent knew that Condor was going to own and operate the force main. (R. p. 281, l. 11-22; p. 794). Early on in the process Respondent's chief engineer Brian Bishop told the Appellant that they had met the engineering requirements for connection to the Respondent's trunk line. (R. p. 290, l. 19-24). At no time during the process did Respondent inform the Appellant that new regulations were being considered which would cut off any pending projects and completely change "the way that the force main people, the collector system and treatment people interact". (R. p. 290, l. 24-p. 291, l. 10). Respondent never explained how they could impose a regulation that would not have applied to the Appellant had Re-Wa simply processed Appellant's application and issued the permit timely.

Bolo testified they were completely vested in the project by the time they had their engineering drawings complete. (R. p.220, l. 18-25). Although, they had never had a project that took more than eight months for final sewer approval, the project seemed to progress smoothly and there was no indication that Respondent would interfere with their plans. (R. p. 228, l. 11-19; p. 233, l. 11-20). The Appellant purchased the property and executed mortgages, contracted with Condor, obtained encroachment permits, cleared, surveyed, lined up builders, contracted with Eastwood Home to sell all the lots and finalized negotiations with Metro for a connecting point;

all by the end of March of 2007. (R. p. 773-781; p. 432, l. 2-10; p. 233, l. 21-p. 234, l. 8). The Appellant complied with every request of the Respondent for information, design and data throughout the process and provided valuable survey and engineering reports to Re-Wa in anticipation of a connection. (R. p. 254, l. 11-p. 256, l. 25).

On February 9, 2007 the Respondent confirmed that the encroachments for connection, PCS ownership of the force main, final plans and profiles could be submitted. (R. p. 795). All that remained was the permit to construct from the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("SCDHEC"). (R. p. 795). The Appellant finalized the ownership of the force, the final plans, profiles and requested a "willingness to serve" letter from Respondent for SCHEC on February 17, 2007. (R. p. 796; p. 290, l. 16-p. 314, l. 3).

Despite the submissions by Appellant, the Respondent needlessly drew out the process. (R. p. 332, l. 8-13). As of March 21, 2007 the project was 100% design complete and Metro had approved the plans. (R. p. 432, l. 2-10). However, by August of 2007 the Respondent was still unwilling to finalize the route of the connector and allegedly imposed new security measures for their property that prevented Condor from owning the forced main on the Respondent's property. (R. p. 824). Another connection point with Metro was available but Metro refused connection citing the regulation by Re-Wa and line issues. In November of 2007 Respondent began discussions with area sewer service providers concerning prohibiting PCS connections to their system. (R. p. 128, l. 24-p. 129, l. 4). Unbeknownst to the Appellant, the Respondent had "flagged" their application as early as August of 2007 and put a "hold" on processing of Appellant's pump station and encroachment. Despite the fact that the board did not authorize this action it had been ordered by the Executive Director of Respondent Ray Orvin ("Orvin").

(R.p.481, l. 1-12).

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