THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-23-06482

Appellate Case No. 2013-000329

Harrison Partners, LLC, Appellant,
v.
Renewable Water Resources, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Rivers S. Stilwell
Lane W. Davis
104 South Main Street
Poinsett Plaza, Suite 900
P.O. Box 10084 (29603)
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 250-2300

Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED
AUG 13 2014
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER CONTAINED UNCHALLENGED SUSTAINING GROUNDS CAUSING THIS APPEAL TO FAIL.

Appellant takes its appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court ("Subject Order"), which, in an appellate capacity, affirmed the underlying administrative decision. (See App. Brief, pp. 1-2).) The lower court's order contained several alternative sustaining grounds ("Sustaining Grounds"), which Appellant never challenged before and cannot now challenge for the first time on appeal. (R. pp. 13-14, 11/16/12 Order.) The Sustaining Grounds included:

1. HP failed to follow the adjudicatory process and procedure required by ReWa's Sewer Use Regulation. (Id. at 14.)
2. Only ReWa's Commission could grant to Appellant an interest in land owned by ReWa. Until such time, Appellant could never obtain a vested interest in project plans. Yet, ReWa's Commission never granted such interest and Appellant conceded it had to have an easement across ReWa's land, "no matter which way [it] went." (Id.)
3. By operation of South Carolina's Statute of Frauds, Appellant had no right to cross ReWa's property absent a written conveyance, which it never obtained. (Id.)
4. The doctrine of equitable estoppel has no application under the instant facts. See Berkley Elec. Coop, Inc. v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 308 S.C. 205, 209-11, 417 S.E.2d 579, 582-83 (1992). (Id.)
5. Even if Appellant's arguments were otherwise correct, the pending ordinance doctrine would defeat Appellant's allegations. (Id.)

collector system, the pump station, and force main, so long as it reached an agreement with Metro. Second, Appellant could have deannexed from Metro and Condor could have owned the collector system, the pump station and force main so long as it reached an agreement with ReWa. Third, Appellant could have deannexed from Metro and ReWa could have owned the collector system, pump station and force main, which ReWa did not desire to do (and rarely does) but relented to accommodate Appellant. Fourth, Appellant could have pursued a package plant. Pages 949 through 952 of the Record contains a more detailed discussion of these options.

When it included the Sustaining Grounds in its Order, the lower court simultaneously found Appellant never meaningfully responded to the same:

While Respondent [ReWa] raised all such issues in its brief opposing Appellant [HP]'s grounds for appeal, Appellant provided no meaningful response to the same. Accordingly, the Court adopts such grounds as additional sustaining grounds in further support of its affirming the Hearing Officer's decision.

(Id.) Appellant likewise never challenged the Sustaining Grounds after the lower court issued the Subject Order. Yet now, Appellant raises substantive arguments against the Sustaining Grounds.

Appellant filed a motion to reconsider the Subject Order on December 7, 2012. (R. p. 1225, 12/7/2012 Mot. to Recon.) None of the grounds in HP's motion challenged (or even referenced) any of the Sustaining Grounds in the Subject Order. (Id.) Thus, before the lower court issued the Subject Order, Appellant never argued against the Sustaining Grounds *and* after the Subject Order was issued, Appellant still never challenged any of the Sustaining Grounds in the Subject Order. (Compare R. pp. 13-14, 11/16/12 Order (Order finding "no meaningful response") *with* R. p. 1225, 12/7/2012 Mot. to Recons. (Motion failing to contest Alternative Grounds)). While Appellant ignored the grounds (presumably because no response existed), each of the Sustaining Grounds created an independent basis to sustain the Subject Order. (See R. pp. 1117-1178, Resp. Cir. Ct. Br.) Appellant cannot now challenge the grounds for the first time on appeal, as it attempts. (See App. Brief pp. 42-49.)

**A. UNLESS RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT, HP CANNOT
CHALLENGE THE ALTERNATIVE GROUNDS ON APPEAL.**

The Sustaining Grounds have now ripened to finality and Appellant cannot raise them before the Court of Appeals. As noted *supra*, in the Subject Order, the lower court found HP never meaningfully responded to the Alternative Grounds. (R. p. 14, 11/16/12 Order.) In light of the same, only two results can obtain, neither of which preserves the Alternative Grounds for appellate review.

Appellant must either admit or deny failing to respond to the Sustaining Grounds. If Appellant concedes (as it should) that it failed to contest the Sustaining Grounds below, then Appellant cannot now advance new arguments challenging the Sustaining Grounds. Such arguments would necessarily constitute arguments newly minted by Appellant and raised for the first time on appeal, which South Carolina courts expressly disallow. See Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) ("[T]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a matter may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.")²⁵

Conversely, if Appellant now contends (the record notwithstanding) that it somehow contested the Sustaining Grounds, then HP never raised such grounds—as

²⁵See also Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780–81 (2004) ("Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled upon by the lower court."); Ro-Lo Enters. v. Hicks Enters., Inc., 294 S.C. 111, 113, 362 S.E.2d 888, 889 (Ct. App. 1987) ("We cannot grant relief on issues argued for the first time on appeal."); Biales v. Young, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) ("Failure to argue is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal."); Duck v. Jenkins, 297 S.C. 136, 139, 375 S.E.2d 178, 179 (Ct. App. 1988) ("An unchallenged finding of fact will not be disturbed . . . on appeal.").

required—in its motion to reconsider. (R. p. 1225, 12/7/2012 Mot. to Recon.) To preserve its arguments in opposition, Appellant had to raise them first in its Rule 59 Motion and secure a ruling about the same by the Circuit Court. Ransom v. SC Water Res. Comm'n, 321 S.C. 211, 219, 467 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1996) (Declining to address an issue not raised in response to Respondent's summary judgment motion, in the order, or in Appellant's Rule 59 motion). Accordingly, in this latter scenario too, the Sustaining Grounds have ripened to finality, since Appellant never secured a ruling on any basis contesting such grounds. Thus, in either scenario, the Sustaining Grounds found by the lower court in affirming the administrative decision have ripened into a final, binding adjudication.

**B. RIPENED TO FINALITY, THE ALTERNATIVE GROUNDS
SUSTAIN THE SUBJECT ORDER ON APPEAL.**

As Appellant cannot challenge the Sustaining Grounds from the Subject Order, the lower court's decision should be affirmed by the Court of Appeals.²⁶ (See supra.) Where, as here, Appellant failed to raise exceptions to the alternative rulings of the

²⁶ See also Columbia (SC) Teachers Fed. Credit Union v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick, 303 S.C. 162, 164, 399 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 1990) ("An alternative ruling of a trial court not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the trial court and is not reviewable on appeal."); Stanley v. B.L. Montague Co., 299 S.C. 51, 57, 382 S.E.2d 246, (Ct. App. 1989) ("An alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal."); Moody v. McLellan, 295 S.C. 157, 162, 367 S.E. 2d 449, 452 (Ct. App. 1988) ("An alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal"); Nichols Motorcycle Supply, Inc. v. Regency Kawasaki, Inc., 295 S.C. 138, 142-143, 367 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 1988) (Unchallenged lower court ruling on alternate grounds constituted basis to affirm lower court); Kolb v. Cook, 284 S.C. 598, 603, 327 S.E.2d 379, (Ct. App. 1985) (holding appellant's failure to challenge the trial judge's alternative finding "constitutes a basis for affirming the trial court.")

lower court, such unappealed, alternative grounds sustain the lower court's ruling. See Portman v. Garbade, 337 S.C. 186, 190, 522 S.E.2d 830, 832 (Ct. App. 1999) ("Because the Attorneys failed to appeal these alternate grounds, they stand as the law of the case.").²⁷ Accordingly, Appellant failed to challenge any of the Alternative Grounds in the Court below; such alternative grounds now require the dismissal of Appellant's appeal with an order affirming the Subject Order.²⁸ Moreover, Appellant's purported substantive arguments against the Sustaining Grounds have no merit and are belied by the Record. To the extent the Court allows such untimely responses, ReWa incorporates by reference to the Record its original arguments to the Circuit Court below, to which Appellant never responded before now. (R. pp. 1117-1178 Resp. Cir. Ct. Brief.)

²⁷ Moreover, where an unappealed ruling renders the issues challenged on appeal as moot, the law of the case doctrine makes it unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to reach the challenges raised on appeal. See State v. Hough, 319 S.C. 104, 110, 459 S.E.2d 863, 867 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding where reversal of issue would not change the result, the issue is moot, and it is unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to address it); Jernigan v. King, 312 S.C. 331, 335, 440 S.E.2d 379, 381-82 (Ct. App. 1993); Daniels v. City of Goose Creek, 314 S.C. 494, 501, 431 S.E.2d 256, 260 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding the trial court's ruling became "the law of this case," where the defendant failed to appeal it, and alternative issues were moot as "reversal would not change the result").

²⁸ Importantly, ReWa raised these issues in a prior Motion to Dismiss but was instructed by the Court to brief them herein. (J. Cureton Order.) In its Return to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Appellant never contested any of the following: (1) Respondent raised the Sustaining Grounds to the Circuit Court; (2) Appellant never responded to the Sustaining Grounds in the lower court; (3) Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration never challenged, questioned, or interposed any counter-arguments to any of the Sustaining Grounds; and (4) Each Sustaining Ground independently sustains the Subject Order. (Compare (ReWa Mot. to Dismiss Appeal dated 4/03/2013) *with* (Appellant's Return) *with* (ReWa's Reply).)

II. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE HEARING OFFICER'S FINDINGS OF FACT.

Appellant first challenges the Hearing Officer's factual recitation set forth in the Factual Background of the Administrative Order. Appellant's arguments have no merit.

A. Despite Bearing the Burden To Do So, Appellant Offers No Explanation As To Why Any Of The Background Facts It Challenges Makes A Difference.

Even if true, which it is not, Appellant altogether fails to explain why any of the background facts it now challenges as "unsupported" would change the outcome of the administrative hearing. (See, e.g., App. Brief, pp. 20-23.) Specifically, Appellant challenges: (1) that it knew public sewer service was not available in the area where it purchased property ("Category 1"); (2) whether basin-wide sewer studies had been conducted before Appellant purchased the subject property ("Category 2"); (3) whether Metro declined to own the force main and pump station ("Category 3"); (4) whether Appellant's collaborating with the Riversway development caused delay ("Category 4"); and (5) whether the peculiarities of Appellant's project led to different routes ("Category 5"). (Id.)

While ample evidence supported each of the Hearing Officer's findings, see infra, none of the facts disputed by Appellant make any difference to the outcome. Appellant bears the burden on appeal of explaining why the factual findings it challenges change the result. See McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 4 (Ct. App. 1987) ("Appellate courts recognize—or at least recognize—an overriding rule of civil procedure which says: whatever doesn't make a difference, doesn't matter."); Gardner

v. Gardner, 253 S.C. 296, 302 (1960) ("The burden was upon the appellant to convince us that there was error which was prejudicial to him...") Here, Appellant cannot explain why the factual findings it challenges, even if in error, would alter the Hearing Officer's findings. They would not.

B. Appellant Did Not "Convincingly" Demonstrate The Hearing Officer's Findings As Unsupported.

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") provides the correct standard of review for factual determinations in this appeal. ReWa's Sewer Use Regulation expressly incorporates the APA's hearing procedures and guidelines. (See R. p. 1031, ReWa Sewer Use Reg. § 6.1, ¶ 2 ("[U]nder same guidelines applied to State agencies which are set forth in S.C. Code §1-23-380.") The APA constrains a reviewing Court from upsetting an agency's factual determinations, unless they are "clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record." S.C. Code §1-23-380(e).

"Under the APA, [the appellate court cannot] substitute its judgment for that of [ReWa or ReWa's hearing officer] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." Leventis v. South Carolina Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 340 S.C. 118, 130, 530 S.E.2d 643, 649-50 (Ct. App. 2000) (quoting Ballenger v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 331 S.C. 247, 251, 500 S.E.2d 183, 185 (Ct. App. 1998); S.C. Code §1-23-380(e). As to issues of fact, the Hearing Officer's decision should be affirmed unless clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record. Id. "The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence" will not mean the agency's conclusion was unsupported

or improper. Waters v. South Carolina Land Res. Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1996) (quoting Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984)). "The burden is on appellants to prove convincingly that the agency's decision is unsupported by the evidence." Id; see also Tennis v. S.C. Dep't Soc. Servs., 355 S.C. 551, 558 (Ct.App. 2003). When applied to the case at bar, the Hearing Officer's decision must be affirmed.

1. Substantial Evidence Supports the Hearing Officer's Findings Relating to the Availability of Public Sewer in the Subject Basin.

As to Category 1 (see App. Brief, p. 20, ¶1), substantial evidence supports every finding made by the Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer found that Appellant bought the property although "no public sewer service was available in the basin embracing the land." (R. p. 660, line 8-661, line 8) (Bishop: basin-wide planning is typical especially, when as here, no public sewer is in the basin.) The lack of public sewer embodies the entire case. Because no public sewer existed, Appellant proposed to use a private utility (i.e., Condor, LLC) to pump sewer uphill and across ReWa's treatment plant property. Appellant's questioning of this fact evidences a failure to comprehend the issues in dispute.

Presumably to demonstrate public sewer existed in the basin, Appellant inexplicably cites Exhibit 13, which has nothing to do with the availability of service in the basin. (Compare App. Brief p. 20 with R. p. 794, Ex. 13.) Exhibit 13 confirms only that ReWa's Lower Reedy Wastewater Treatment *plant* had capacity (i.e., physical room to accept) to serve the proposed volume of flow from Appellant's project. (R. p.

794, Ex. 13.) Such confirmation of capacity constitutes only the very first (minute) step in the permitting process. (R. p. 595, lines 16-25 ("This is the very beginning...meaning there is there capacity at the treatment plant.")) It does *not* mean public sewer lines exist in the basin, as no gravity mains exist in the subject basin to date, which is an undisputed and undisputable fact. (See R. p. 600, lines 1-23 (How, unlike Appellant, other developers did not pursue developing property because, "Well, currently there's no sewer out there."))

Indicative of its argument's strength, Appellant misstates testimony on page 290 of the Record. Appellant misrepresented that the passage indicates: "The purchase was also after Respondent's chief engineer Brian Bishop told the Appellant that they had met the engineering requirements for connection to the Respondent's trunk line." (App. Brief p. 20.) Untrue. In the actual passage, which refers to Exhibit 13²⁹, Bolo testified: "Mr. Bishop did tell us that we'd have to meet these requirements. . . ." (R. p. 290, 19-25.)³⁰

²⁹ Of note, Exhibit 13 identifies the requirements Appellant had to satisfy (which it never did); it does not state Appellant met ReWa's engineering requirements. (See R. p. 794, Ex. 13) ("Our willingness to serve this project is contingent upon the property owner complying with all requirements/standards of Western Carolina [n/k/a ReWa])."

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